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‘O1a. 00k éxcivwy xal xAéos Tol edvoue’
The Philomousos Society of Athens and Antiquities

Ilias Arnaoutoglou

In 1826, the fifth year of the Greek war of independence, the war effort of the Greeks in
revolt was quickly fading under the heavy military pressure of the Egyptian armies which
had landed in the Peloponnese a year earlier; they had conquered most of the region and
helped the besiegers of Mesolonghi to sack the city.” However, Athens was still — but
not for long — under the control of the Greek forces and the Acropolis continued to be
their stronghold in eastern Greece. In this military and political context, it is surprising to
discover that in Athens there was an undertaking to save antiquities.

In previous centuries, under Ottoman or Venetian rule, efforts to study and save
antiquities were intertwined with West European perceptions of art, beauty, and history.
Merchants, monks and travellers were mapping antique sites and were carrying away
whatever they could, or were arranging for antiquities to be carried off by governors.!
This activity is illustrated nicely in the story of the discovery, in the late sixteenth
century, of the Hellenistic inscription recording the testament of Epikteta, on the island
of Santorini, and its fate, as reconstructed by Serafino Ricci.? The first modern reference
to the inscription is found in a letter of the 4™ of May 1586 by Onorio Belli to Valerio
Barbarano. The inscription was carried off to Candia, although Belli wished to have it
carried to Venice. However, the stone found its way to Venice, since in the same year it
appears in the collection of the Grimani family. The text of the inscription, as read by
Belli, was published by J. Gruter.?

The inclusion of Greece in the ever increasing number of travels, especially in the
second half of the eighteenth century meant the rediscovery of its past and its monuments
by a large group of western European intellectuals.* In the late eighteenth century, with
the development of what is called the Neohellenic Enlightenment movement, Greek
intellectuals living in European countries established a link with their glorious past.’ The
new areas of interests (sciences), ideas (political and moral philosophy) and practices
(education) were to be transplanted through the financial support of existing schools and
the foundation of new schools. Soon, this approach was adopted by a significant part of
the élite living in Ottoman Greece.®

*I would like to thank Amalia Pappa for providing me with a copy of the original document published here,
and Richard Catling for discussing an earlier draft of this paper and suggesting a few corrections. All remaining
errors are mine.
!'See Malliares 1998 and Maltezou 1998.
2 Ricei 1893
3 Gruter 1602. The standard edition is in /G XII (3) 330.
4 See Tsigakou 1981, Constantine 1984, Stoneman 1987.
3 For the birth and development of the movement of Neohellenic Enlightenment see Tabaki 2000 (with further
bibliography).

This ‘received’ interest in Greek antiquities created a series of paradoxes that resulted in the feeble and slow
development of ancient Greek history studies; see Kyrtatas 2002 and Yakovake 2005. For the ambivalent attitude
of Greeks and foreigners towards antiquities before and during the war of independence see Petrakos 2001.
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Therefore it comes as no surprise to find that the preservation of antiquities was
one of the concerns of the rudimentary administration established by the Greeks in revolt.
An order of the Minister of Interior dated on the 10" of February 1825 about the rights
and duties of the Ephors for Education authorizes the local authorities and schoolteachers
to gather antiquities, that is coins, statues, inscriptions and any other remaining antiques,
wherever they might be, in order to store them at schools so that in the course of time
every school should have its Museum.” However, a centrally concerted effort to save
antiquities would not have been adequate without the support and participation of local
communities, since the war effort was absorbing the energy of the embryonic central
government. The involvement of the local communities, with all its shortcomings, can be
sketched out in the case of the Philomousos Society of Athens.

The Society was founded on the 1% of September 1813. Its constitution consisted
of 10 articles and it was signed by 101 founding members, among them several British,
something that has led some scholars to assume a heavy English influence behind it.®
However, the social profile of the membership was quite varied and cosmopolitan.
Half of the members were Greeks (52 out of 101), 10 from the British protectorate of
Ionios Politeia. A major part of the local Athenian élite participated, among them the
four dmuoycoovtes (elders) of the community for the year 1813, Sp. Logothetes, Sp.
Kapetanakes, P. Zacharitsas and Sp. Trikalinos, as well as individuals who were involved
later with the administration of communal affairs during the war of independence,’
members of the clergy and intellectuals, such as I. Palamas, I. Marmarotyres and
Dionysios Pyrrhos. The remaining members were mainly from Britain (38 out of 49) or
British subjects residing in Smyrna and only 9 from other European countries. Some of
them (Haller, Cockerell, Stackelberg, Gropius) were involved in unauthorised excavations
and removal of antiquities. In the Society 12 women (8 Greeks and 4 foreigners) were
enlisted, among them the well known Theresia Makre, who inspired Lord Byron the
poem Maid of Athens.

The Society was run by four elected Ephors. Three articles pertain to antiquities
and reveal the ideological influences of the Neohellenic Enlightenment, firmly entrenched
by that time in élite circles.

The glorious past of the city lingers in the preamble of the constitution and in the
three articles concerned with the preservation of antiquities. In particular, articles 4 and 5
pertain to the purpose of collecting and storing antiquities:

Article 4: The aforementioned contribution will serve the purpose of cultivating and enlightening the

Greek spirit of the young through the study of sciences, publications of useful books, help for poor

7 Daskalakes 1968, 3, 68-70 and Kokkou 1977, 41.

8 The constitution was published in Logios Ermes 4 (1814), 98-100 and republished by Kampouroglou 1891,
215 and Velianites 1993, 47-50; a year later, on the 27" of September 1814, a regulation of the duties of the
ephors was approved, Velianites 1993, 51-53. The list of members in Velianites 1993, 93 is different from the
one published in Kampouroglou; on the English influence, Yotopoulou-Sisilianou 1984, 194-96; Velianites
1993, 91-92 and Petrakos 2004, 4.

? See apart from the well known Sp. Trikoupes and the information provided by Sourmeles 1846, 78-
81, Sp. Venizelos (AEII 1, 542); Damask. Petrakes (AEII 1, 541; 3, 101, 111, 143-44; 12, 38; 16, 163); Sp.
Kaloyeropoulos (4EIT 1, 430; 7,57, 73, 78, 136; 8. 59, 67); Char. Chtenas (AEIT 1, 539, 542; 3, 233; 9, 21; 18,
114); Sp. Patousas (4ETIT 1, 218, 539-40, 542-43; 3, 34, 39, 41, 233-34; 13, 62; 18, 114); N. Zacharitsas (4EIT 1,
217-18, 541, 543; 2, 171; 18, 114). G. Papazapheiropoulos was a prominent Eleian (4E11 3, 137, 144; 9, 96-97,
127,17, 27, 30-31, 41, 45).
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students, discovery of antiquities, collection of stone inscriptions, statues and utensils and of anything
else worthy of attention

Article 5: The collected archaeological objects shall be stored in a place chosen, called Mouseion, in
order that their lovers could look at them

and article 9 stipulates:

The society selects from among its members here, men with expertise on antiquities and able to
accompany the travellers frequenting this place, to each one of the ancient Greek monuments and to
offer any available assistance and help.

In the same spirit, the article 26, the last one of the regulation of the library,
provides that “The care of antiquities in Athens and anywhere in Greece shall be one of
the sacred duties of the Philomousos Society”.!°

The archaeological activity of the Philomousos Society in Ottoman Athens during
the period up to the beginning of the war of independence in 1821 remained rather limited.
The published accounts of the Society for the years 1814-1815 and 1817-1819 reveal that
only small amounts of money were devoted to buying antiquities.'! The education of the
younger generation was the main concern of the Society; the employment of teachers and
grants provided to poor students strained its financial resources. A letter of the Society
to bishop Ignatios dated to the 13/25 of June 1820 depicts its financial difficulties and
the expenses incurred on teachers’ salaries.'> However, the correspondence between a
leading member of the Society, A. Logothetes, and Fr. North (Earl of Guildford) reveals
that A. Logothetes was undertaking some sort of excavations on behalf of Guildford. This
activity was hardly conducive with the stated aims of the society.'® The outbreak of the
war of independence and the siege of the Ottoman garrison on the Acropolis resulted in
a disruption of whatever activity the Philomousos Society had, until the surrender of the
garrison on the 10™ of June 1822.

The Society was revived sometime in March 1824, as L. Stanhope mentions in
a letter to J. Bowring.'"* On the 18" of April 1824 the elders of the local community
approved the use of two mosques for educational purposes and the creation of a Museum
on the Acropolis.!> With a letter dated the 21 of July 1824 the Philomousos Society

10'See Kokkou 1977, 32 n. 3 and Velianites 1993, 60 and 312.

" Yotopoulou-Sisilianou 1984, 211 and Velianites 1993, 180-184.

12 Protopsaltes 1957, 265-273 esp. 270-271: the ephors of the Society abolished the name Mouseion and
preferred the title Bibliotheke, because “the former denotes particular collections of precious (or not) objects,
and it does not befit a simple collection of books necessary to a school or gymnasium. The name Bibliotheke
does not prevent the storing of artistic objects or antiquities, which fate may provide one day to the society,
since at present its monies do not suffice other than for unavoidable expenses”; curriculum, Protopsaltes 1957,
281-282; Kokkou 1977, 34; financial difficulties, Protopsaltes 1957, 266-267. Cf. Velianites 1993, 324-326. For
the bishop Ignatios see Protopsaltes 1961.

13 Yotopoulou-Sisilianou 1984 and Velianites 1993, 97-105. For the association of the Earl of Guilford with
Greece and especially Kerkyra, Bobou-Stamate 1995.

14 Stanhope 1825, 143-144.

15 See early references in Stanhope 1825, 130-131 and 136, dated in March 1824; Protopsaltes 1967, xy” and 16
no. 4; decision of the Legislature, AEIT 8, 47 no. 132/14-9-1824; reading of the decision of the Executive in the
Legislature body, AEIT 7, 52; approval by the Ministry of Interior, Protopsaltes 1967, 17 no. 6 and the article in
Ephemeris Athenon 21 (12-11-1824) [= Koumarianou 1971, 98].
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thanked E. Blaquiere for covering the expenses for three young Athenians to study in
Britain.!® On the 1% of September 1824 the Society issued a proclamation, in which it is
stated that antiquities shall be collected and stored in the temple of Athena so that anyone
will be able to see them.!’

On the 1 of October 1824 the ephors of the Society issued a second call for the
resumption of its activities and an appeal for funds, while on the 10" of November 1824
the society asked the head of the armed forces on the Acropolis, I. Gouras, to take on the
monument of the Erechtheion in order to transform it into a museum.'®

In 1825 Gouras asked the Society to send him in Pyrgos (Peloponnese) several
diplomas of membership. The Society replied with a long letter underlining the perennial
problem of financing its educational activities and asking for financial assistance.!”

Fig. 1. A view of Hadrian’s Library in the mid eighteenth century (after LeRoy 1770, 409 pl. 6).

16 Blaquiere 1825, II, 131-132 and similarly Stanhope proposed to be sent “a virtuous and highly gifted man
... to be instructed in the most improved systems of education”, Stanhope 1825, 207. Educational activities:
advertisement for the post of a teacher published in Ephemeris Athenon 1 (20-8-1824) [= Daskalakes 1968, 1,
55 no. 22 and Koumarianou 1971, 68], information on the schools operating in Athens, Daskalakes 1968, 1, 59
no. 25. News of the election of a new executive board in Ephemeris Athenon 7 (24-9-1824) [= Daskalakes 1968,
3,2071 no. 25A] and in a letter of the 25" of November 1824 to Stanhope, Stanhope 1825, 456-459.

17 Velianites 1993, 326.

18 Appeal for funds, Protopsaltes 1957, 283-84, Daskalakes 1968, 1, 60 no. 26 and Velianites 1993, 197-
198; letter to Gouras, Protopsaltes 1967, 16 no. 5, Velianites 1993, 327-328; answer by Gouras on the 10"
of March 1825, Protopsaltes 1967, 18 no. 7 and Velianites 1993, 328-329. Appeal for funds issued on the
28™ of September 1825 to the people of Zakynthos, Daskalakes 1968, 1, 96 no. 65. Invitation of the 20™ of
October 1825 to the teacher 1. Distomites, Daskalakes 1968, 1, 97 no. 66 and intervention of the Philomousos
Society in favour of I. Distomites, AEIT 7, 395. Description of the educational activity of the Philomousos in
Genike Ephemeris 5 (21-10-1825) and 14 (21-11-1825), Daskalakes 1968, 1, 98 no. 67 and 103 no. 73. Petition
of the Philomousos Society to the Executive to appoint I. Distomites as teacher, Daskalakes 1968, 1, 99 no.
68. Account of activity of a girls-only school run by the Philomousos Society, Daskalakes 1968, 1, 105 no.
74. Request of the Philomousos Society for the granting of two houses to be used as schools in May 1826,
Daskalakes 1968, 3, 1964-1967 no. 951.

19 Ephemeris Athenon 39 (27-1-1825) [= Daskalakes 1968, 3, 2074 no. 46A; Koumarianou 1971, 121-125 and
Velianites 1993, 198-200].
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There is no doubt that the Society’s activities were limited as far as antiquities were
concerned in the period 1813-1824. From 1824, it seems that a period of renewed activity
had started. Poor Athenians still sold “stones, remnants of antiquity”, as the Head of the
Police of Athens reported on the 14" of July 1825.2° The peak and the most significant
impact on archaeological matters of the Society would be attained in 1826.

On the 18" of January 1826 the ephors of the Philomousos Society of Athens
requested the Executive to authorize activities aimed at the protection of antiquities.
In particular, they asked a) to form a commission made up of the local authorities and
colonel Fabrier, a member of the Society, who in cooperation with the local committee
for the sale of public land, would be authorized to refuse the sale of public land, when
the preservation of antiquities is compelling, b) to authorize the demolition of buildings
bordering and threatening antiquities, either with fire or with subsidence, and ¢) to make
proposals for and proceed, following authorization, to the planning of streets.”! This
initiative should be seen in the light of the imminent implementation of a law concerning
the sale by auction of publicly owned properties in order to raise funds for financing the
army and the fleet.

Eight days
later, on the 26" of
January, the com-
mittee for the sale of
public land**> wrote
a letter to the Cen-
tral Committee in
Nauplion suggest-
ing an exchange of
properties in which
antiquities  existed
and the concentra-
tion of antiquities
dispersed through-

out Athens. This Fig. 2. J. Thiirmer, The west side of Hadrian’s Library, 1819
is what they sug- (after Matton 1963, pl. 73).
gested:

20 Protopsaltes 1967, 19 no. 8.

21 Sourmeles 1853, 131-32, Protopsaltes 1967, 21 no. 11 and Daskalakes 1968, 1, 108 no. 75. An example of
how the planning was done and the compensation for those affected is revealed in a letter read at the sitting of
the Legislature on the 5% of April 1826, AEIT 7, 480.

22 The Executive of the Greeks had decided in 1824 to start auctioning perishable landed property owned
previously by the Ottoman Turks and confiscated after their expulsion, McGrew 1985, 65-66 and Psychoyos
1994, 24-30; for later developments see Nakos 1984. It is possible that the auction envisaged in this report did
not, in the end, take place, since we hear of reactions in Athens in March 1826, Mamoukas 1839, 5, 92-94 (=
AEII 3, 246-249): “...ta Z0waey 7 émToonT) eis T  avixovta wéen xal éAmicaca, 611 TAéoy ddv & amavrroy
ol0suiay évavTIOTYT], AEYITE Xxal éx TEIToU Tag éoyadias TNS, EToixoxoAnae Toy el éxmoimasws NI vouoy
xal Ta Aoima Eyypaa wé Tac mepiyoapas TV nTnSivTwy xal sic éxmoinay éxTedévTwy UTOTTATIXNGY ... XFeg
ToW! ... éauvaydm eig To dnuoaioy T@v ASmydy mAGSos Aaol xal émitndss éAJovTes, iva avayvwowat xal Ta
avéyvwaay, ... aA\ aiovns anuegoy mowi eldouey évuBoiodévTa xal ATILATIEVTA TOV YOOV ... xal NXoUTAUEY,
7 TobAaxIoToV Grovaa Eyw, eoBegiouols dia ToAAa yelpoTeQa xal ameuxTaia...”.
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And some ruined houses, which obstruct and cover precious ancient buildings, as well as temples and
the like, need not be sold but should be demolished so that the above mentioned radiant artefacts of our
immemorial ancestors shall remain free standing, for the glory and the splendour of our nation; and in
the middle of the town the portico of Hadrian, which is covered by a nation-owned and two privately
owned workshops, that they should be exchanged with other nation-owned workshops in a different
place and those becoming national property to be demolished, since the above mentioned buildings
otherwise are subject to the possibility of destruction by fire.

And for some antiquities which lie in the preserved national houses it would have been better to
have taken away from there and to have stored in a separate place, handed over to the superintendents
of the Philomousos Society, because when these houses are sold, they will remain in the ownership of
the buyers, without offering for these antiquities any price, and even if this was possible, they would not

have provided the price of these priceless antiquities.23

The answer from the central Government arrived on the 31% of January 1826 in
the form of an order of the Executive to the Governor of Athens to cooperate with the
ephors of the Philomousos Society and the local committee for the sale of public lands in
order to carry out the proposals of the Society and of the Committee.”* Moreover, on the
8/9™ of February 1826 the Legislature advised the Executive to order the Committee to
consider as state property all antiquities that may be found in auctioned properties and the
Philomousos Society to accept and store them.

On the
21% of Febru-
ary 1826 the
Executive is-
sued an order
to the Com-
mittee for the
sale of public
lands, a) to
safeguard, to-
gether  with
the Gover-
nor and the
Philomousos
Society, all
antiquities, b)
to remove an-
tiquities from auctioned properties, ¢) to exempt from auction any properties adjacent
to ancient structures; these properties shall pass to the Philomousos Society to be ad-
ministered in such a way that ancient structures will not be affected, d) the Philomousos
Society together with the Governor will empty ancient buildings of dangerous material
and find the safest building for the storage of antiquities.?’

Fig. 3. The west side of Hadrian’s Library in 1829, Expédition de Morée
(after Kokkou 1977, 42).

23 Full text in Greek in Appendix I, pages 2-3, infia. The report was read and discussed in the session of the 7%
of February 1826 of the Legislature, and the proposals were endorsed, AETT 7, 503; the acknowledgement of the
decision to the Executive in Protopsaltes 1967, 24 no. 13 and AETT 8, 415.

2 Protopsaltes 1967, 23 no. 12 and Diamantes 1971, 374ft.
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Apparently
initial work involv-
ing the demolition
of workshops was
carried out, as we
learn from a letter
dated to the 16" of
March 1826, sent
by the ephors of the
Philomousos Society
to the Executive ask-
ing for an exchange
of properties to be
arranged with the
owners of four work-
shops adjacent to a

wall and columns.?® e it : a e
All this is confirmed Fig. 4. C. v. Heydeck, The mosque of Tsisdarakis with a view of Hadrian’s
by a mere Compari_ Library, 1835 (after Matton 1963, pl. 74).

son between Figs. 1
and 2 depicting the west side of Hadrian’s library before 1826 and Figs. 3-5, dating to
some years later, in which all the structures attached to the wall have been removed.

So far, most research has overlooked the fact that the clearings effectuated in 1826
were countenanced first in 1824 by Gropius in a letter to E. Blaquiere.?” In particular,
Blaquiere published a long letter sent to him by Gropius on the 15" of April 1824, in
which Gropius, among other things, spelled out the efforts of the Philomousos Society
to preserve antiquities. Central to his project was the removal of a line of shops adjacent
to what he calls the Poikile Stoa (actually Hadrian’s Library) and the removal of the
old ‘magazine’ from the Erechtheion. Gropius in his letter mentioned also what he had
proposed to the government. However, so far, there is no evidence of that motion in the
published documents of the Executive. From this letter two further questions emerge, first,
why the intervention of the Philomousos Society was focused on Hadrian’s Library, and
second, why it took almost two years to proceed with these demolitions. The location of
the monument in the city centre and the existence of a marketplace created an imminent

% Protopsaltes 1967, 24 no. 14. The decision was read and approved by the Legislature, AEIT 7, 449, Kokkou
1977, 43. See also the order of the Interior Minister (3218/15-3-1826) to the Governor of Athens, for compliance
with the order of 21 of February 1826, Protopsaltes 1967, 25 no. 15.

26 Protopsaltes 1967, 25 no. 16. The letter was read and approved by the Legislature, AEIT 7, 475.

27 Blaquiere 1825, 11, 155-157: “The Society of Philomusae, charged with the preservation of ancient monuments,
has just proposed to the government to take down the line of shops which is built up against this magnificent
remain, and which almost conceals it from review, as well as threatens it with total destruction, in the event of a
fire. The town would gain a fine open space by this trifling sacrifice. The matter is still undecided, but we hope
our request will be granted” and “We have not as yet been able to get the powder removed from the old magazine
established by the Turks, which is, as you know, in the fine vestibule of the temple of Erechtheus. The matter
is decided on, but money to construct the new magazine is wanting. I need not say how anxious the Society is
to rescue this masterpiece of art, from the total ruin with which it is hourly threatened”. For the archaeological
activities of G. Chr. Gropius in Greece, see Protopsaltes 1947 and Callmer 1982.
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danger to antiquities, a reason recurring constantly in the petitions of the Society.?® As
for the question of time, 1824 and 1825 were two years of open civil warfare between
the factions of the Peloponnesians and the Roumeliotes. In addition, for these years the
necessary restructuring and the educational activity of the Society, as we have already
seen, had a central importance.

Ten days after the request, on the 26™ of March 1826, the Legislature approved the
petition of the Philomousos Society for further demolitions.?’ This is the last reference
to the archaeological activities of the Society. Following the sack of Mesolonghi in
April 1826, the Ottoman forces led by Mehmed Reshid Pasha (Kutahye) in August 1826
besieged the Acropolis, whose defenders eventually surrendered in May 1827.

Even though efforts to collect and store antiquities were continued throughout the
governorship of I. Kapodistrias (appointment of A. Moustoxydis in 1829 as Director of
the Greek National Museum in Aegina), no such thing is reported in Athens till 1833.3
The founding of the Archaeological Society in Athens in 1837 heralded a new era of
excavations, protection and preservation of antiquities in the city. G. Chr. Gropius, an
early and active member of the Philomousos Society, was among the founding members
of the new society, linking thus the Ottoman and revolutionary periods with the fresh start

Fig. 5. The west side of Hadrian’s Library used as a repository of antiquities, 1840 (after Kokkou 1977, 177).

2 Protopsaltes 1967, 21 no. 11 (18-1-1826); the document published in Appendix 1 (26-1-1826); Protopsaltes
1967, 25 no. 16 (16-3-1826): “Aia va éAevdepwd ouws Teleiwg wia abiodéatos aeipa xohwvwy xeywevy el o
TAE0V TUXVATUEVOY WEQOS THS GY0Qas was xal 1 omoia avnxel eig Tov mepifoAoy Tot AloixnTinel malaTiov TH¢
moAews... Me Tolto 0 Atoixmaig elxollver weyalws Tqy meoodoy Tis pihoxalias eis Tas BEAAvixas molers” (In
order to free completely a magnificent series of columns, located in the most frequented place of our market,
which sits in the court of the Governor’s palace of the city ... By doing that the Administration will greatly
further the love of beauty in Greek towns).

29 Protopsaltes 1967, 27 no. 17 and AEIT 8, 459; proceedings, AEIT 7, 475. The Executive proceeded as was
recommended and on the 29" of March 1826 asked the Interior Ministry to proceed to the exchange, Protopsaltes
1967, 28 nos 19 and 20. In its turn the Ministry on the 7" of April 1826 ordered the provincial government of
eastern Greece to proceed, Protopsaltes 1967, 29 no. 21.

30 For the Kapodistrian period see Kaloyeropoulou 1981; see also the account of Rhangaves 1837 and Petrakos
2004, 6-15. For the efforts during the period of regency, Maurer 1976, 545-552.
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in the study of antiquities.’! Towards this end the contribution of the Philomousos Society
— despite the often amateurish character of its efforts rooted in the cosmopolitan society of
the last years of the Ottoman Empire in Athens — was not meaningless.

The Philomousos Society of Athens attempted to save as many antiquities as its
financial means allowed; even if, in the first period, the outcome was rather poor, this was
due to the focus on education and to the parallel ‘archaeological’ activities of, at least one,
of its members. In the second period, despite the better focused archaeological activity,
the Philomousos Society crippled by inadequate funding and hampered by administrative
procedures managed to effectuate the clearing of the wall of Hadrian’s Library. In this
respect, the statement of Edward Blaquiere in 1825, that “had the Society of Philomusae
been properly supported by the friends of art and learning, it might have done much
towards preserving the Athenian monuments from the ruin into which they are fast falling;
as it is, the members resident at Athens, have done their utmost” is a neat reflection of the
situation of Athenian antiquities in the decade which saw the end of the Ottoman rule and
the beginnings of the Greek state.>?

31 See Petrakos 2004.
32 Blaquiere 1825, 1, 99.
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Appendix |

Letter to the Commission for the Sale of State Lands
(TAK 47 B, . Il ap. 6)*

Page 1
[Toog TNV EmMTEOTNY THS EXTTOINTEWS TV EIVINDY XTNUATWY

Katayouevor eis Ty natayoaeny TV éXvixy xtn/watwy, x(al) TeplQepopmevol wWeTa
ToU aoyITéxTOVOS EmioTaToONWo/YepovTwy, x(al) arAwy, eémitelolucy Ta OlaTaTouEva
TNUWEIW/TAVTES OVOUATTI, TA WETEA EXATTOU 0lx0U, To tuBadoy, x(al) me/pipéoeiay alT@Y
N TaY 0,71 AANO EUTTEQIEXETAL €IS AUTOUS.

Ta xatayeapévra x(al) éxTiumdcvTa oommTia Emoxmeuy/Smoay 0N xoTd
b ’ ’ b \ ~ ’ \ b \ ~ ’ ’ ~
amaiTouwevmy Taly, el Tac 22» Tol Teé/yovtos x(al) eig Tag 27» ToU idiov JeAety PAnSel
elc TNV Omuo/moadiay, T T W s (gl) oltws allplodiadoyws xadws xaTayeapovtal/
x(at) éxTiwdvral.

e 14 ’ \ ~ ’ ’ b ’ \ b ’

Ev wovov atoxaloueda, mepl TOV xTuatwy Tovtwy, /eommTiov x(al) égeimeiwy,
4 ’ ~ \ ’ b \ \ < b \ ~ 2 ~ " ’ b \
0Tt JéAet moAnS@at Taga TNy, émet/on x(al) 7 EATIC TOV ayopao Ty Exel Baaty i Ty
mooyeywvel/ay éxmoinaiy, NTIC évéveTo ToTe, x(al) 0TI Ta weivovta 6omN/Tia, TG OmoiA
Sedev éxmoimdel Nom, ¢€ Wy mepina elval/ xaTolxmTA, UPEIEVTWY TTAQOIXNTTOVY IS aUTA

\ \ \ b ’ 2y ’ ¢ b ’ b) b ~ \ \ ’

#(al) we moAAa/ oAiyoy évvoixiov, we émAnpopopndnuey map’ alT®y, Ta/ 0¢ xaTaAoITao
3 ’ b ’ ” \ " ¢ ’ \ ” \ \n ’
efvat d1olov axaToixmTa, AaAa wey Exov/Ta NuiTeiay oremny, arla 0 wy ExovTo TaTWUA/
TAVTEADS, XAl TO TEQITTOTEQOY UEQOS EpITrEIa, el TWV/ JeueAiwy xaTeda@ioneva, év oig
elploxovTal xal Tiva, weé/pos Tov Tolxov ExovTa, xaSwe YéAete mAmpopoondT axot/Bids
AOTOTIY TAEATNEOUVTES TNV XATA TEIQAY XATAYOR/

Page 2
\ b ~ N4 ’ \ \ ’ ¢ ’ ’
©NY alT®Y, NTIS TTEANETAI UeTa THY TeAelwaty éxaoTns Onuo/moadiag.

Eic mqv ondeicay axpiBm xatayoaeny év wovoy Séher Aei/et, o apiduol éxaotou
0oV, XaTA TNY OlaTAYNY, ETEIDN U/QITHOWEV TA OTTIYTIO TTOQAONY, ATO EVAY UaXaldy
b ” \ ’ ” \ ’ \ ~ b ’ \ ~ \
eic aMrov n(al) mAncalovta avw, x(al) xatw, wetatl TV éoimeiwy, Oia/ ToiTo Osv
b ’ \ \ b ’ ’ \ b ’ ~ b ’ ’ \ \
EOUVNINWEY V& TG AQIIUNTWUEY, OIa T TO adLva/Toy TH¢ éxteléoews, TouTou, x(al) dia
TN weyloTyy TaaTacty/ THE apiduolcews, WoTe TOUTO Wy OUVAUEYVOL VA, XaTopSWow/uey,

¢

EXQUOMEY TNY TOONY AeTrTopepiay xaoTou oixou/ eis TNY anueiwaiy.

37 \ ’ Y4 \ b \ b ’ \ ¢ ’ \ ’ \

Eti 0¢ oroxaloueda, ot ta édvixa éoyaotmoia x(at) of wi/Aot O0sv moémetr va
TwAnd@at dohov, arda wovoy va vvoixial/addat, émeidn 1) moootns, NTIC YeAer 003
elc Ty éxmoimay/ avT@y we To Odowevoy (xatT’ ET0S) évvoixioy amo Tous év/voixiaoTag,
glc 0o ETm guwTAnEel THY mogoTyTa TS Tmw/Aoews. Ofey éav avti TH¢ éxmonoews

~ b ”
¢woiacddal/ Oia dnuomoadias, i O0Vo %) Tela ETN WE ouw@Wviay meo/TAnowuEvou
évvoixiov, Yéhovy dwael weyalntépay mo/ootnTa THS ayopas x(al) Ta éoyactnota x(al)
3 ’ ’ b \ ~ ¢ ’ b4 \ ¢ ’ ’ \

ol wiAot wévouat/ édvixa., ToUTo evpioxet eUAoyov x(al) o cuvtayuaTaxms eaBiéeos, x(al)
0 xvptog émapyos x(at) ol moAlTal.

Kai peoixa oommria éoimeia Ta omoia meptopilovat/

33 The document was first published by Diamantes 1971, 372, no. 282.
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Page 3
\ b ’ \ ’ b ’ b \ \ \ \ ’
x(at) amooxemalovar Tag moAuTiwous apxaias oixodouas xadwe/ vaovse x(al) Tagowoia
5 b ’ \ \ ~ b \ \ ~ ’ e’ ’ ’
elvat avaynm va un) moAddat, ala/ va xaTtedapioddat 010Aov, 1va REIVWTI WEUOVOUEYQ
#(at)/ EhelSepa, Ta onIévTa Aaumod TEXVOURYNUATE T@Y GE/UVNTTWY TEOYOVWY WaS,
’ 14 b ’ \ ’ ~ ” \ ¢ b ’ ~ 14 \ ~ ~
o1 0oEav éxcivwy x(at) xAéog Tol/ Edvous, xal 7 év uéaw THs moAsws aToa Tot Adgiavol/
n omola, amooxenaleTat amo v édvixoy x(atl) dvo (010xTH/Ta 0yaoTneia, TG O0Tolo, ETEETE
va, évalay®aot we/ arla édvixa el alo wépos x(at) Ta yivoueva édvixal dia s arlaytic
\ ~ ’ b ’ ¢ ’ ¢ < ~ b \ \ b \
va, naTedapladdat, 00Tl alléws, vmo/xevtatl al gndeicatl oixodopal x(al) eic @Yopav
gvdeyouevne/ mupnaiag.
Kai peoixal apxaiotyTes al omoiat eigeTt elploxnov/Tal sic Ta dacwévta édvixa
b ’ \ 35 \ ~ b ~ \ \ ~ b \ ’
oomnTia xalov GTo va Ast/oddar éxcidey, x(at) va Tawieuddar cic exwoioToy wégog/
Taad1doueval Tolg EMTEOTOIS THS Pilopwovaou ETal/pelas, MI0TI TOAOUUEYWY TV MIEVTWY
oommTIiwY, alTal A&t welvovy OloxTmoia TOV ay0paoTdy, Ywels/ va Teooeégovy dia
b \ \ \ \ " ~ b ’ \ ~ \ k4 ’ \
alTa Tagawixeay Tiwny, x(at) av/ TololTov TI é0UvaTo va ouwSi), Ocv MIeloy dwaer THY
TI/UMY TOIOUTWY QVEXTIUNTWY GEXAIOTNTWY.
’ ’ b \ ’ Y4 \ \ \ b \
[oooett xadumoParlouey cig Ty axey oag, 0TI/ 016, WeY TAS TNUAYTIXGS XATA
Y mogoTYTA ExToin/aelc w’ oAov 0TI ol AvIpwTol OUTARETTWS TIROTPEQOY/Tal A y0QaTTal
aroyxalouevor, ot weAhovy x(al) avTtooe va,

Page 4

uetaBoay arla BAémovtes Ty weyarny weiisiay avayxal/lovral va To axolovdnowai.

Oi 0¢ dia Tag wixpac ayopas/ d1oAou duaxolelovtal V' ayopacwal av weAAy va eASwary/
b ’ \ \ c 9 \ ~ ’ \ b ’ EA) b ’

eic Nadmhiov, xadwe x(atl) ol évvonaactal T@Y wilwy x(at) éoya/otnoiwy av axoloudnsy

xaT alUTOV TOV TEOTIOV.

Ato Tepl TAVTWY va Exwwey TaxioTny 001yiay ToU/ TS va axoAoudNTwRey.

Bv ASmvaic 4 26 Tavvovapi(ov) 1826

¢ ’ ~ b ’
O1 emoTaTal TS exTOINTEWS

Nucora” Teparxaomns
A. Aevdorvos
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